IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

CASE NO. SC03-1315

v.

HENRY BARNUM,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

CHARLIE J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT R. WHEELER
TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF,
CRIMINAL APPEALS
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0796409

TRISHA MEGGS PATE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 045489

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 (850) 922-6674 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, the State of Florida, the Appellee in the First District Court of Appeal, will be referenced in this brief as Petitioner, the prosecution, or the State. Respondent, Henry Barnum, the Appellant in the First District Court of Appeal and the defendant in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Respondent or his proper name.

The record on appeal consists of four volumes. The two volumes of the record will be referred to by the symbol "I" and "II" and the two volumes of trial transcripts will be referred to by the symbol "TI" and "TII". Each symbol will be followed by any appropriate page number in parentheses.

All emphasis through bold lettering is supplied unless the contrary is indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In 1992, the State charged respondent by information with armed robbery with a firearm, attempted first degree murder of a law enforcement officer, depriving a law enforcement officer of a weapon, grand theft of a firearm and use of a firearm in the commission of a felony. (I.4-5). On June 11, 1993, respondent was tried before a jury. (TI, TII). Respondent did not request that the court instruct the jury that he must have knowledge that a person was a law enforcement officer to be convicted of attempted murder of a law enforcement officer, (TII.212-235), and the trial court did not sua sponte give a

knowledge instruction. (TII.296-300). The jury found respondent guilty as charged of all of the offenses. (I.15-21).

Respondent appealed his conviction to the First District Court of Appeal. Although respondent's "attorney did not raise the knowledge issue at trial, []it was a disputed fact and appellant asserted fundamental error on appeal, because the state had failed to prove as an essential element that he knew the victim was a law-enforcement officer" Barnum v. State 849 So.2d 371, 373 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003). The First District affirmed the attempted murder conviction. Barnum v. State, 662 So. 2d 968 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995).

On December 19, 1997, respondent filed a motion for postconviction relief in which he alleged that he was denied due
process of law because the element of knowledge that a person
was a law enforcement officer was omitted from the jury
instructions, and his attorney was ineffective for failing to
request an instruction on the knowledge element. (I.112).
Respondent, when represented by counsel, moved to enlarge the
claim and argued that omitting the jury instruction on knowledge
was a legal error under Thompson v. State, 695 So. 2d 691 (Fla.
1997), which should be applied retroactively. (II.255). The
circuit court's order denying respondent's motion for postconviction relief stated in part:

In 1997, the Florida Supreme Court held that knowledge that the person was a LEO was an element of the offense of attempted murder of a LEO. Thompson v. State, 695 So.2d 691 (Fla. 1997). The Supreme Court has not ruled that Thompson is retroactive. The

Fourth District Court of Appeal has ruled that <u>Thompson</u> is not retroactive. <u>Sweeney v. State</u>, 722 So.2d 928 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998), <u>rev. denied</u>, 733 So.2d 517 (Fla. 1999).

This Court does not find Defendant's argument that Sweeney is not controlling case law persuasive. Defendant attempts to distinguish Sweeney on its facts and argues knowledge was not a disputed element in that case as in the instant case. However, the issue raised in <u>Sweeney</u> was whether <u>Thompson</u> is retroactive. The Fourth District applied a Witt v. State, 387 So.2d 922, 931 (Fla.1980), analysis to determine if Thompson should be applied to the facts of the case. Fourth District held that Thompson did not satisfy the second prong of the Witt test and thus did not apply retroactively. Sweeney at 931. Pursuant to Pardo v. State, 596 So.2d 665, 666 (Fla. 1992), a trial court must follow the decision of any district court until its own district court or supreme court rules. Accordingly, Thompson does not apply retroactively to this case. Additionally, counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to anticipate changes in the law. As already indicated, at the time of Defendant's trial, knowledge was not an essential element of the Therefore, counsel's failure to request an instruction on knowledge was not deficient representation, since such an instruction was not required under the law in effect at the time of trial. See Villacicencio v. State, 719 So. 2d 322, 324 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1998)(The use of case law not known at trial in support of an ineffective assistance of counsel claim is inappropriate).

(II.293-294).

Respondent appealed to the First District Court of Appeal, and the First District held that:

We decline to follow <u>Sweeney</u> in this case, because the Fourth District did not consider <u>Moreland v. State</u>, 582 So.2d 618 (Fla.1991), which we find controlling. The supreme court stated in <u>Moreland</u> that fundamental fairness may require the retroactive application of a decision, even when a <u>Witt</u> analysis might favor finality. Moreland was convicted of first-degree murder and sentenced to life in prison. He claimed at trial and on appeal that African Americans had been unconstitutionally excluded from his jury pool pursuant to an administrative order dividing Palm

Beach County into eastern and western jury districts. While his appeal was before the Fourth District, a defendant who was convicted of murder and sentenced to death in Palm Beach County raised the same issue on appeal to the supreme court. After the Fourth District affirmed Moreland's conviction and sentence without an opinion, the supreme court issued Spencer v. State, 545 So.2d 1352 (Fla.1989), holding that the jury districts in Palm Beach County were unconstitutional.

Moreland filed a motion under rule 3.850, asking to have his conviction and sentence vacated under Spencer. The trial court applied retroactively, but the Fourth District concluded that it was an evolutionary refinement under Witt that could not be made retroactive. The supreme court agreed that Spencer was not a major jurisprudential change, but nevertheless reversed, stating that it would apply the case to Moreland's situation based upon fundamental fairness and uniformity adjudications. "If Moreland had been sentenced to death, he would have appealed to this Court, rather than the district court, and would have obtained the Spencer[,]" and it relief as would fundamentally unfair to deny the same relief Moreland "because his sentence directed his appeal to a court other than this one." Moreland, 582 So.2d at 620. Accord Fannin v. State, 751 So.2d 158 (Fla. 2d) DCA 2000); Benedit v. State, 610 So.2d 699 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992).

In the case at bar, if this court had certified conflict with <u>Grinage</u> in Barnum's direct appeal, the supreme court could have considered Barnum's case, decided it in the manner it did <u>Thompson</u>, and remanded for a new trial. We therefore reverse, and certify conflict with <u>Sweeney</u>.

In deciding this case, we have considered <u>State v. Klayman</u>, 835 So.2d 248 (Fla.2002), and <u>Bunkley v. State</u>, 833 So.2d 739 (Fla.2002), in which the court explained that supreme court decisions that "clarify" statutory law apply to all cases, pending or final, while decisions that "change" the law require a <u>Wittanalysis</u>. We are unable to reconcile <u>Thompson</u> with either category. Section 784.07(3) did not contain broad terms evincing that the legislature expected the courts to engage in judicial construction, but instead used language that was intended to include a knowledge requirement from the date of the law's enactment, which, under <u>Klayman</u>, would indicate that the court in

Thompson was simply clarifying the meaning of the statute. Yet the court also stated that when deciding the applicability of a decision to final cases, a "key consideration" is whether prior case law shows that the lower courts were imposing criminal sanctions under the statute in question where none were intended. Klayman, 835 So.2d at 254; Bunkley, 833 So. 2d at 745. As examples of decisions that clarified rather than changed the law, the court cited cases in which it could be readily determined from the record that the convictions or sentences had been imposed contrary to the statutes in question as a matter of law, and did not involve factually disputed matters. Klayman, 835 So.2d at 254, n. 8 & 12. In contrast, it cannot be said in this case that the trial court imposed a criminal sanction where none was intended, because the jury might have convicted Barnum of attempted murder of a law-enforcement officer if it had been properly instructed.

<u>Barnum v. State</u>, 849 So.2d 371, 374 -375 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003)(footnote omitted). Nevertheless, the First District certified the following question of great public importance:

WHETHER THE ANALYSIS OF <u>STATE v. KLAYMAN</u>, 835 So.2d 248 (Fla.2002), APPLIES WHEN AN ISSUE THAT THE SUPREME COURT HAS CLARIFIED REQUIRES RESOLUTION OF A DISPUTED FACTUAL MATTER?

<u>Id.</u> at 365.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In 1993, respondent was convicted of attempted first-degree murder of a law-enforcement officer. Two years after respondent's

appeal was final, this Court issued <u>Thompson v. State</u>, <u>infra.</u>, which held that knowledge of the victim's status as a lawenforcement officer is a necessary element of the offense. Respondent filed a motion for post-conviction relief claiming that <u>Thompson</u> should be applied retroactively. The First District erred by granting respondent relief. This Court need not answer the certified question as it is moot. In subsequent cases, this Court has limited <u>Thompson</u> by holding that section 784.07 does not create a substantive offense, but instead, it is a penalty statute. Therefore, the victim's status as a law enforcement officer is not a element of the substantive offense.

Furthermore, the First District's concern that respondent should be entitled to relief under the doctrine of fundamental fairness is misplaced. The First District has overlooked the fact that respondent did not preserve the issue by requesting a jury instruction of his knowledge of the victim's status as a law enforcement officer. Thus, unlike the preserved issue in the case in which this Court provided relief pursuant to the doctrine of fundamental fairness, there is no certainty that had the First District certified conflict in respondent's direct appeal, this Court would have decided it in the manner it did

Thompson, and remanded for a new trial. Hence, respondent is not entitled to any relief, and the First District's decision should be reversed.

ARGUMENT

<u>ISSUE I</u>

WHETHER THE ANALYSIS OF STATE v. KLAYMAN, 835 So.2d 248 (Fla.2002), APPLIES WHEN AN ISSUE THAT THE SUPREME COURT HAS CLARIFIED REQUIRES RESOLUTION OF A DISPUTED FACTUAL MATTER?

The issue before this Court is whether <u>Thompson v. State</u>, 695 So.2d 691 (Fla. 1997), should be applied retroactively.

Standard of Review

The issue of whether a case is applied retroactively is a question of law, and therefore is subject to de novo review.

Argument

Respondent was convicted of attempted first-degree murder of a law-enforcement officer in 1993. At issue is Section 784.07(3), Florida Statute (1991), which provided that:

Notwithstanding the provisions of any other section, any person who is convicted of attempted murder of a law enforcement officer engaged in the lawful performance of his duty or who is convicted of attempted murder of a law enforcement officer when the motivation for such attempt was related, all or in part, to the lawful duties of the officer, shall be guilty of a life felony, punishable as provided in s. 775.0825.

Thus, "Section 784.07(3) reclassified attempted murder from a first-degree felony to a life felony if the victim was performing his or her duties as a law-enforcement officer."

Barnum v. State 849 So.2d 371, 372 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003). In 1991, the First District "had indicated that knowledge of an officer's status was not an essential element of section

784.07(3), when it held that the provision was unconstitutionally vague for failing to include a requirement that the defendant knew the victim was a law-enforcement officer." Id. at 373. See Carpentier v. State, 587 So.2d 1355 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991). Later, this Court in Thompson v. State, 695 So. 2d 691 (Fla. 1997), held that knowledge of the victim's status as a law-enforcement officer is a necessary element of the offense. The First District held that under the principles fundamental fairness, <u>Thompson</u> should applied retroactively because had the First District certified conflict in respondent's direct appeal, this Court would have granted respondent a new trial as it did <u>Thompson</u>. Barnum, at 374. Yet, the First District certified the following question:

Whether the analysis of <u>State v. Klayman</u>, 835 so.2d 248 (Fla. 2002), applies when an issue that the supreme court has clarified requires resolution of a disputed factual matter?

<u>Id.</u> at 375.

In <u>State v. Klayman</u>, 835 So. 2d 248, 250 (Fla. 2003), the issue was whether or not this Court's decision in <u>Hayes v. State</u>, 750 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1999), interpreting the meaning of the term of mixture in the trafficking statute was subject to retroactive application. In deciding that <u>Hayes</u> did apply retroactively, this court held that "if a decision of a state's highest court is a clarification in the law, due process considerations dictate that the decision be applied in all cases, whether pending or final, that were decided under the

same version (i.e., the clarified version) of the applicable law. Otherwise, courts may be imposing criminal sanctions for conduct that was not proscribed by the state legislature." <u>Id.</u> at 252. This Court's decision was based on the due process concerns of <u>Fiore v. White</u>, 531 U.S. 225, 121 S.Ct. 712, 148 L.Ed.2d 629 (2001).

In Fiore v. White, after Fiore's conviction became final, the Pennsylvania Supreme Court interpreted the statute under which Fiore was convicted, for the first time making it clear that Fiore's conduct did not fall within the scope of the statute. 531 U.S. at 226, 121 S.Ct. at 713. The retroactivity of the statute was not at issue, but instead, the issue was whether Fiore's conviction violated the requirements of due process. Id. The statute in question made it unlawful to operate a certain type of facility without a permit. The Commonwealth had only presented evidence that Fiore deviated from his permit, which the Commonwealth assert was the equivalent of acting without a permit. There was no evidence that Fiore did not have a permit. 531 U.S. at 228-229, 121 S.Ct. at 714. subsequent to Fiore's conviction, the state high court defined the terms in the statute to mean that one who deviates from his permit is not operating without a permit. 531 U.S. at 227, 121 S.Ct. at 713. Thus, pursuant to the high court's interpretation of the statute there was no evidence to support Fiore's

conviction and it therefore violated due process. 531 U.S. at 228-229, 121 S.Ct. at 714.

These cases are best explained in terms of statutory interpretation. When the legislature has not changed the terms of a statute and the court interprets a term in the statute, the term must have the same meaning from the inception of the statute until the Legislature implements a change to the terms of the statute. Therefore, such application should always be applied retroactively.

However, in <u>Witt v. State</u>, 387 So. 2d 922, 931 (Fla.1980), this Court set for its test for determining whether or not a judicial change of law requires retroactive application. This Court stated that an alleged change of law will not be considered for retroactive application unless the change: "(a) emanates from this Court or the United States Supreme Court, (b) is constitutional in nature, and (c) constitutes a development of fundamental significance." <u>Id</u>. at 931. This test for retroactivity is based upon the considerations set forth in <u>Stovall v. Denno</u>, 388 U.S. 293, 87 S.Ct. 1967, 18 L.Ed.2d 1199 (1967), and <u>Linkletter v. Walker</u>, 381 U.S. 618, 85 S.Ct. 1731, 14 L.Ed.2d 601 (1967), in which the United States Supreme Court looked to the purpose to be served by the new rule, the extent

¹ Moreover, even if the retroactive application of the statute had been at issue, <u>Fiore</u> came within the exceptions listed in <u>Teague v. Lane</u>, 489 U.S. 288, 109 S.Ct. 1060, 103 L.Ed.2d 334 (1989), because the Pennsylvania Supreme Court's interpretation of the statute had made criminal conduct innocent.

of the reliance on the old rule, and the effect on the administration of justice of a retroactive application of the new rule. <u>Stovall</u>, 388 U.S. at 297, 87 S.Ct at 1967.

"A change of law that constitutes a development of fundamental significance will ordinarily fall into one of two categories:

(a) a change of law which removes from the state the authority or power to regulate certain conduct or impose certain penalties, or (b) a change of law which is of sufficient magnitude to require retroactive application." Hughes v. State, 826 So.2d 1070, 1073(Fla. 1st DCA 2002). Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335, 83 S.Ct. 792, 9 L.Ed.2d 799 (Fla. 1963), is an example of a law change which was of sufficient magnitude to require retroactive application. Witt, at 929. However, this Court also said:

In contrast to these jurisprudential upheavals are evolutionary refinements in the criminal law, affording new or different standards for the admissibility of evidence, for procedural fairness, for proportionality review of capital cases, and for other like matters. Emergent rights in these categories, or the retraction of former rights of this genre, do not compel an abridgement of the finality of judgments. To allow them that impact would, we are convinced, destroy the stability of the law, render punishments uncertain and therefore ineffectual, and burden the judicial machinery of our state, fiscally and intellectually, beyond any tolerable limit.

Witt, at 929-930. For example in <u>Linkletter v. Walker</u>, 381 U.S. 618, 85 S.Ct. 1731, 14 L.Ed.2d 601 (1965), "the Supreme Court refused to give retroactive application to the newly-announced exclusionary rule of <u>Mapp v. Ohio</u>, 367 U.S. 643, 81 S.Ct. 1684, 6 L.Ed.2d 1081 (1961)." <u>Witt</u>, at 929 n.26. To determine if a

change of law is of significant magnitude this court applies Stovall/Linkletter test which "requires an analysis of (i) the purpose to be served by the new rule; (ii) the extent of reliance on the old rule; and (iii) the effect that retroactive application of the rule will have on the administration of justice." Hughes at 1073.

The certified question ask this Court to decide whether this Court's decision in <u>Thompson v. State</u>, 695 So.2d 691, 692 (Fla. 1997) was a clarification or interpretation of the terms of the statute or a change of a judicial rule of law. However, this Court has modified its decision in <u>Thompson</u>, and the certified question is now a moot point.

In Merritt v. State, 712 So.2d 384 (Fla. 1998), this Court held that "Section 784.07, Florida Statutes (1995), is an enhancement statute rather than a statute creating and defining any criminal offense." Id. at 385. This Court reiterated this point in Mills v. State, 822 So.2d 1284 (Fla. 2002), stating that "as reflected in the language of the statute itself, section 784.07 operates as a reclassification statute. While the statute does not, in and of itself, create new offenses separate from those to which it makes reference, it does more than provide for minimum sentences applicable to those offenses; it also reclassifies the enumerated offenses based upon the status of the victim." Mills v. State, 822 So.2d 1284, 1286-1287 (Fla. 2002). Thus, this Court has limited Thompson by holding that section 784.07 does not create a substantive

offense, but instead, it is a penalty statute. Therefore, the victim's status as a law enforcement officer is not an element of the substantive offense.

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