Argument

Which is more acceptable - convicting a defendant of a crime where the state failed to prove a prima facie case, or convicting a defendant of a crime where one of the elements was disputed, and the jury was not instructed that it had to find the element? Respondent contends that convictions in both situations violate due process and both are constitutionally impermissible.

The first scenario - failure to prove a prima facie case - was the issue in State v. Klayman, 835 So.2d 248 (Fla. 2002), Klayman involved a drug trafficking statute and will be discussed in detail later. This court held the conviction violated due process, and applied the controlling caselaw retroactively. The second scenario - failure to instruct on a disputed element - is the issue in the instant case. Because both scenarios violate due process, the answer to the certified question is yes.

The district court's opinion

In Thompson v. State, 695 So.2d 691 (Fla. 1997), this court held that knowledge the victim is a law enforcement officer (LEO) is an element of the crime of attempted murder of a LEO. In respondent, Henry Barnum's, trial for attempted murder of a LEO, whether Barnum knew the man was an officer was disputed. The prosecutor conceded this point at the 3.850 hearing, Barnum v. State, 849 So.2d 371, 373 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003). Yet the jury was not instructed that knowledge was an element of the crime.

In Sweeney v. State, 722 So.2d 928 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998), review denied, 733 So.2d 517 (Fla. 1999), the Fourth District held that Thompson did not apply retroactively, but Barnum contends the facts of Sweeney are distinguishable in that knowledge did not appear to be disputed in that case. If not distinguishable, the decision is in error.

In its opinion below, the First District said the question was whether Thompson applied retroactively to Barnum's trial. The court held that it did. The court noted that the failure to instruct on a disputed issue is fundamental error. Barnum, 849 So.2d at 373 n.2, citing Reed v. State, 837 So.2d 366 (Fla. 2002). The court rejected Sweeney because the Fourth District did not consider Moreland v. State, 582 So.2d 618 (Fla. 1991), which held that a person in a situation like Barnum's was entitled to relief on the principle of fundamental fairness. 849 So.2d at 374.

Moreland will be discussed in detail later.

The district court also considered whether Thompson was a "change" or a "clarification" in the law under Klayman and Bunkley v. State, 833 So.2d 739, overruled by Bunkley v. Florida, ____ U.S. ____, 123 S.Ct. 2020, 155 L.Ed.2d 1046 (May 27, 2003). The court said the analysis indicated that Thompson was a clarification, but the court was "unable to reconcile Thompson with either category" because both Klayman and Bunkley involved sufficiency of the evidence and not factually disputed matters. Barnum, 849 So.2d at 374-75.

Respondent contends that distinction does not change the outcome in his case.

The state's initial brief on the merits

First, to summarize the district court's opinion, it relied on Thompson, Reed and Moreland, it considered Klayman and Bunkley and rejected Sweeney. The state's arguments in this court are rather different from its earlier arguments. In the district court, the state relied on Sweeney, and the First District certified both a question and conflict with Sweeney. In its initial brief in this court, the state appears to have abandoned Sweeney, or at least made no argument on it; does not cite or acknowledge Reed or Bunkley; in an argument made for the first time on rehearing, argues Thompson is moot and no longer applies; and Klayman is distinguishable.

The state does not clearly acknowledge that knowledge is an element of the crime under Thompson. Instead, the state argues the certified question is moot. According to the state's argument made for the first time on rehearing, this court has held the LEO element is an enhancement element and not an element of a substantive crime. According to the state, therefore, the jury does not have to find the element, this is an Apprendi claim, and Apprendi is not retroactive. Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000). Respondent will address the fallacies in this argument later.

The state also argues that fundamental fairness does not apply because Barnum did not request the instruction on knowledge in the trial court. However, the state is silent on the principle that the failure to instruct on a disputed element is fundamental error, and the error was raised on direct appeal and rehearing.

Knowledge is an element

Since the state did not concede it, and respondent cannot know whether this court believes this to be open question, he must argue that knowledge the victim is a LEO is an element of the crime of attempted murder of a LEO.

Reclassification because a crime was committed on a LEO requires the jury to be instructed on the following elements:

4. (Victim) was at the time a [law enforcement officer [LEO]][firefighter].

5. (Defendant) knew (victim) was a [LEO]
[firefighter].

6. At the time of the [crime] (victim) was engaged
in the lawful performance of [his] [her] duties.

The court now instructs you that (name of official
position of victim designated in charge) is a [LEO]
[firefighter].

*Note to judge: In giving this sentence, do not refer
to the victim by name. The instruction must state
the class of officers to which the victim belongs,
e.g., probation officer, correctional officer.*

Fla. Std. Jury Insts. (Crim.) for offenses of assault on a
LEO; aggravated assault on a LEO; battery on a LEO; aggravated
battery on a LEO, all defined under section 784.07, Florida
Statutes. These are the standard jury instructions now, and
they were the jury instructions for assault and battery on a
LEO at the time of the crimes at issue here in 1992.

Barnum's jury was instructed as to the main charge and
the lesser-included charge containing the LEO element that the
state must prove beyond a reasonable doubt:

Florida Highway Patrol Trooper Roy Swatts was a law
enforcement officer engaged in the lawful
performance of his duty.

(T2 298-99).

So, the only exception to the LEO findings for assault
and battery and aggravated assault and aggravated battery,
ever, was for attempted murder of a LEO, per Carpentier and a
few other district court cases. Carpentier v. State, 587
So.2d 1355 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), review denied, 599 So.2d 654
(Fla. 1992). Neither Carpentier nor the crime itself was very

long-lasting. As the district court pointed out, the legislature created the crime of attempted murder of a LEO in 1988 and ended it in 1995. Barnum at n. 1.

As to Carpentier's longevity, or lack of it, it was decided in 1991. Within 3 years, there was conflict with all its hold-ings in Iavocone v. State, 639 So.2d 1108 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994) (attempted murder of LEO is divided into degrees; 25-year manda-tory minimum applies only to attempted first) and Grinage v. State, 641 So.2d 1362 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994)(knowledge is an ele-ment). This court resolved the conflict against Carpentier in State v. Iacovone, 660 So.2d 1371 (Fla. 1995), holding attempted murder of a LEO was divided into degrees and the 25-year manda-tory minimum applied only to attempted first-degree murder of a LEO. This court has applied Iacovone - involving the same sta-tute, but not the same section, as the instant case - retroac-tively. State v. Stevens, 714 So.2d 347 (Fla. 1998), cert. denied, 525 U.S. 985, 119 S.Ct. 452, 142 L.Ed.2d 405 (1998).

Less than two years after Iacovone, Thompson held that knowledge is an essential element, effectively overruling the remaining holding of Carpentier:

The court reasoned that section 784.07(2), pertaining to assault or battery upon a law-enforcement officer, expressly required the state to prove that the offense was "knowingly" committed upon an officer, and it would be "illogical and unreasonable" to dispense with such element when proving attempted murder of an officer under subsection (3). Id. at 692.

Barnum, 849 So.2d at 373.

***Failing to instruct on disputed element
is fundamental error;
fundamental error violates due process***

Because the state argued it was not error to omit an instruction on knowledge, respondent must first argue it was fundamental error.

Knowledge was a disputed element at trial, as the prosecutor conceded at the 3.850 hearing, 849 So.2d at 373, and the issue was raised on direct appeal and rehearing. At the time the First District decided the direct appeal, its holding was in conflict with Grinage, but the court did not write on the issue. On rehearing, Barnum asked the court to certify conflict or a question, but the court denied rehearing without comment. Id.

The law is well-settled that failure to instruct the jury on a disputed element is fundamental error. That is, the error can be raised for the first time on direct appeal, even where trial counsel did not request the instruction. Reed; State v. Delva, 575 So.2d 643 (Fla. 1991); see also Mercer v. State, 656 So.2d 555 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995); Mancuso v. State, 636 So.2d 753 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995), app'd, 652 So.2d 370 (Fla. 1995)(knowledge element of leaving scene of accident with injury or death).

In Mercer, the defendant was charged with obtaining a controlled substance with a forged prescription. Mercer

testified that she did obtain the medication, but did not know the pre-prescription was forged. The trial court instructed the jury in accordance with the standard jury instructions, which omitted the element that Mercer must have knowledge of the forgery, and the jury convicted.

The district court found the omission to be fundamental error and reiterated that the standard instructions are only a guide and "cannot relieve the trial court of its responsibility to charge the jury correctly." 656 So.2d at 556, n.1:

The failure. . .to charge the jury that the state had to prove intent and knowledge on the part of [Mercer] relieved the state of its burden of proving the essential elements of the charged offense, deprived [Mercer] of her sole theory of defense, and may have resulted in an impermissible conviction for a non-existent crime.

656 So.2d at 556.

Similarly, in Reed, this court reiterated its holding in Delva that:

. . .the failure to use the correct definition is fundamental error in cases in which the essential element. . .was disputed at trial. This conclusion is required by and follows our decision in State v. Delva. . .**In Delva, we held that it was fundamental error to give a standard jury instruction which contained an erroneous statement as to the knowledge element of the charged crime.** We expressly recognized a distinction regarding fundamental error between a disputed element of a crime and an element of a crime about which there is no dispute. . .We answered affirmatively as to a disputed element and then said: "Failing to instruct on an element of the crime over which the record reflects there was no dispute is not fundamental error...." Id. at 645. (emphasis added)

Reed, 837 So.2d at 369. The court continued:

We rephrased the certified question because whether the evidence of guilt is overwhelming or whether the prosecutor has or has not made an inaccurate instruction a feature of the prosecution's argument are not germane to whether the error is fundamental. It is fundamental error if the inaccurately defined. . . **element is dis-puted. . .and the inaccurate definition "is pertinent or material to what the jury must consider in order to convict."** Stewart, [infra, 420 So.2d at 863]. Other-wise, the error is not fundamental error. Because the inaccurate definition of malice reduced the State's burden of proof, the inaccurate definition is material to what the jury had to consider to convict [Reed]. Therefore, fundamental error occurred in the present case if the inaccurately defined term "maliciously" was a disputed element in the trial of this case. (emphasis added; cites omitted)

Id.

Similarly, Mercer held that omitting the knowledge element "relieved the state of its burden of proving the essential elements of the charged offense." 656 So.2d at 556.

In the instant case, the issue of whether Barnum knew the alleged victim was an officer was disputed. The failure to instruct the jury to determine whether Barnum knew the man was a law enforcement officer was "pertinent or material to what the jury must consider in order to convict." Reed. While Reed was decided after Barnum's trial, Delva and Stewart v. State, 420 So.2d 862 (Fla. 1982), cert. denied, 460 U.S. 1103, 103 S.Ct. 1802, 76 L.Ed.2d 366 (1983), predated his trial and correctly state the law on which he relies.

Harmless error review does not apply:

. . .we take this occasion to clarify that

fundamental error is not subject to harmless error review. By its very nature, fundamental error has to be considered harmful. If the error was not harmful, it would not meet our requirement for being fundamental. Again, we refer to what we said in Delva, 575 So.2d at 644-45:

Instructions ... are subject to the contemporaneous objection rule, and, absent an objection at trial, can be raised on appeal only if fundamental error occurred. Castor v. State, [supra]; Brown v. State, 124 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1960). To justify not imposing the contemporaneous objection rule, "the error must reach down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error." Brown, 124 So.2d at 484. In other words, "fundamental error occurs only when the omission is pertinent or material to what the jury must consider in order to convict." Stewart, [supra].

Thus, for error to meet this standard, it must follow that the error prejudiced the defendant. Therefore, all fundamental error is harmful error.

837 So.2d at 369-70. While the court cautioned that not all harmful error is fundamental,

. . . the malice element was disputed at trial. Therefore, fundamental error occurred when the trial court instructed the jury using the erroneous definition for "maliciously." (emphasis added)

Id. at 370. Likewise, knowledge was disputed at Barnum's trial. Therefore, fundamental error occurred when the trial court failed to instruct the jury that knowledge was an element of the crime. The result is that the jury could have convicted Barnum if the jury found Trooper Swatts was a law enforcement officer, without regard to whether it believed that fact was known by Barnum.

Moreover, by definition, fundamental error is a due

process violation:

For an error to be so fundamental that it may be urged on appeal though not properly preserved below, the asserted error must amount to a denial of due process. State v. Smith, 240 So.2d 807 (Fla. 1970).

Castor v. State, 365 So.2d 701, 704 n.7 (Fla. 1978).

Omission of a jury instruction on knowledge was fundamental error and a due process violation. As a fundamental error, it could be raised for the first time on direct appeal, which it was, but the district court did not address the issue.

The state's argument

- Apprendi;

reclassification/enhancement vs. substantive element

For the first time on rehearing in the district court and again in this court, the state argued that the LEO element of attempted murder of an LEO is not an element of a substantive offense, but rather is a sentence enhancement/reclassification element. According to the state, that makes respondent's claim an Apprendi issue, and Apprendi is not retroactive. The district court did not address this issue except to deny rehearing without comment.

There are several fallacies in the state's Apprendi argument. As argued previously, in every other crime reclassified because the victim is a LEO, the standard jury instructions explicitly require the jury to find knowledge. This fact is contrary to the state's Apprendi argument here that the jury

does not have to be instructed on the knowledge element.

Even if the state were correct that this court has ruled that the LEO element is a reclassification/sentencing enhancement element, rather than an element of a substantive offense, that makes no difference to Barnum's claim. The error in the state's reasoning is that Florida required the jury to find reclassification elements long before Apprendi came along.

In 1984, on the question of when the trial court could reclassify or enhance a sentence for use of a firearm, this court said:

The question of whether an accused actually possessed a firearm while committing a felony is a factual matter properly decided by the jury. Although a trial judge may make certain findings on matters not associated with the criminal episode when rendering a sentence, **it is the jury's function to be the finder of fact with regard to matters concerning the criminal episode.** To allow a judge to find that an accused actually possessed a firearm when committing a felony in order to apply the enhancement or mandatory sentencing provisions of section 775.087 would be an invasion of the jury's historical function and could lead to a miscarriage of justice. . . (emphasis added)

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